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Dear Petitioner: 

 

This is in reference to your application for correction of your naval record pursuant to Section 

1552 of Title 10, United States Code.  After careful and conscientious consideration of relevant 

portions of your naval record and your application, the Board for Correction of Naval Records 

(Board) found the evidence submitted insufficient to establish the existence of probable material 

error or injustice.  Consequently, your application has been denied.    

 

Although your application was not filed in a timely manner, the Board found it in the interest of 

justice to waive the statute of limitations and consider your case on its merits.  A three-member 

panel of the Board, sitting in executive session, considered your application on 15 May 2025.  

The names and votes of the members of the panel will be furnished upon request.  Your 

allegations of error and injustice were reviewed in accordance with administrative regulations 

and procedures applicable to the proceedings of this Board.  Documentary material considered 

by the Board consisted of your application, together with all material submitted in support 

thereof, relevant portions of your naval record and applicable statutes, regulations and policies.  

 

The Board determined that your personal appearance, with or without counsel, would not 

materially add to their understanding of the issues involved.  Therefore, the Board determined 

that a personal appearance was not necessary and considered your case based on the evidence of 

record. 

 

A review of your record revealed that you enlisted in the Navy and served on active duty from 8 

December 2015 through 7 December 2020.  Your final enlisted evaluation report was issued for 

the period 16 July 2020 through the date of your discharge.  According to the final evaluation, 

you were a technical expert, did not complete the physical fitness assessment due to command 

authorized nonparticipation, were an invaluable asset to the command, were highly respected, 

and you would be a benefit to any future employer.  You were also issued a Navy and Marine 

Corps Achievement Medal for the period August 2016 to October 2020.  Upon your discharge, 

you were assigned an Honorable characterization of service and an RE-1 reentry code; which 

meant that you were eligible for reenlistment.  You then affiliated with the Navy Reserve.   

 

The Board presumed that, prior to your separation from active duty and in accordance with the 

Manual of the Medical Department (MANMED) prepared by the Department of the Navy 

Bureau of Medicine and Surgery (BUMED), you would have received a separation physical 
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examination prior to your separation from active duty.  According to section 15-20 of the 

MANMED, a separation physical examination is a comprehensive evaluation, which is 

conducted for the purposes of ensuring that service members have not developed any medical 

conditions while in receipt of base pay that might constitute a disability that should be processed 

by the Physical Evaluation Board (PEB).  Further, according to the MANMED, the “standards 

for being physically qualified to separate are the same as those being qualified to continue active 

duty Service and to affiliate with the reserves.”   

 

According to a note from a physician dated 18 February 2022, which you provided to this Board 

with your application, he was treating you for a variety of conditions including fibromyalgia, 

migraine, IBS, depression, and multiple joint pain.  On 7 January 2023, Department of the Navy 

Bureau of Medicine and Surgery (BUMED) informed Navy Personnel Command (PERS-95) that 

you were not physically qualified (NPQ) for retention in the Navy Reserve due to fibromyalgia, 

arthritis, post-traumatic stress disorder, depressive disorder, anxiety disorder, and history of 

suicide attempts.  On 25 January 2023, you signed a Page 13 Administrative Remarks, which set 

forth your potential options in light of the NPQ finding.  From among the options, you indicated 

that you requested discharge from the Navy Reserve.  Another available option included to 

indicate that you wanted to pursue “Line of Duty for Disability Benefits.”  On 16 February 2023, 

the commanding officer of your Navy Reserve Center informed you that you were found to be 

NPQ for retention in the Navy Reserve.  You were discharged thereafter due to being NPQ. 

 

In your petition, you request that your record be corrected to reflect that you received a medical 

disability retirement based on injuries or illness; which you contend were incurred on active duty 

and for which you were ultimately found NPQ in the Navy Reserve.  You provided a variety of 

service records relating to your Medical Readiness Review (MRR) in the Navy Reserve as well 

as documents from the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA).  On 2 May 2025, this Board wrote 

to you by email requesting additional documentation; explaining that review of your application 

revealed that you did not include adequate materials or documentation to support your assertions 

of a mental health condition, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), Traumatic Brain Injury 

(TBI), and/or treatment for military sexual trauma.  You responded the same day, explaining that 

you were “working to get my timecard.  Please remember I requesting a retirement due to my 

physical disabilities to my pain is so bad from fibromyalgia and migraines that I use canes and 

require FMLA.”  You attached with your response some additional medical treatment records 

and a wage and hour form. 

 

The Board carefully reviewed your contentions and the material that you submitted in support of 

your request and determined that it found no error or injustice in your naval records.  In reaching 

its decision, the Board observed that, in order to qualify for military disability benefits through 

the Disability Evaluation System (DES) with a finding of unfitness, a service member must be 

unable to perform the duties of their office, grade, rank or rating as a result of a qualifying 

disability condition.  Alternatively, a member may be found unfit if their disability represents a 

decided medical risk to the health or the member or to the welfare or safety of other members, 

the member’s disability imposes unreasonable requirements on the military to maintain or protect 

the member, or the member possesses two or more disability conditions which have an overall 

effect of causing unfitness even though, standing alone, are not separately unfitting.  In addition, 

the Board observed that it applies a presumption of regularity to support the official actions of  






